

Correlation and clinical relevance of animal models for inhaled pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals

T. Sécher, E. Bodier-Montagutelli, A. Guillon, N. Heuzé-Vourc'h

▶ To cite this version:

T. Sécher, E. Bodier-Montagutelli, A. Guillon, N. Heuzé-Vourc'h. Correlation and clinical relevance of animal models for inhaled pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2020, 167, pp.148-169. 10.1016/j.addr.2020.06.029 . hal-03687170

HAL Id: hal-03687170 https://univ-tours.hal.science/hal-03687170v1

Submitted on 3 Jun2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Correlation and clinical relevance of animal models for inhaled pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals

Sécher T^{1,2}, Bodier-Montagutelli E^{1,2,3}, Guillon A^{1,2,4}, Heuzé-Vourc'h N^{1,2}

- 1. INSERM, Research Center for Respiratory Diseases, U1100, Tours, France
- 2. University of Tours, Tours, France
- 3. CHRU de Tours, Pharmacy Department, Tours, France
- 4. CHRU de Tours, Critical Care Department, Tours, France

Corresponding Author:

Dr Heuzé-Vourc'h Nathalie INSERM, Centre d'Etude des Pathologies Respiratoires, U1100 Université François Rabelais de Tours 10 Boulevard Tonnellé F-37032 Tours, France <u>nathalie.vourch@med.univ-tours.fr</u> phone: +33 2 47 36 62 37; fax : +33 2 47 36 60 46

Abstract

Nonclinical studies are fundamental for the development of inhaled drugs, as for any drug product, and for successful translation to clinical practice. They include *in silico*, *in vitro*, *ex vivo* and *in vivo* studies and are intended to provide a comprehensive understanding of the inhaled drug beneficial and detrimental effects. To date, animal models cannot be circumvented during drug development programs, acting as surrogates of humans to predict inhaled drug response, fate and toxicity. Herein, we review the animal models used during the different development stages of inhaled pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals, highlighting their strengths and limitations.

Keywords: animal models, inhalation, pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics, toxicokinetics

Declaration of interest: NHV receives consulting fees from Cynbiose Respiratory, a CRO that develops and proposes animal models of respiratory diseases, including infectious pathologies.

Abbreviations

FDA: Food and Drug Administration; EMA: European Medicines Agency; PK: pharmacokinetics; PD: pharmacodynamics; MDI: metered dose inhaler; DPI: dry powder inhaler; CF: cystic fibrosis; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; NHP: non-human primate; VAP: ventilator-associated pneumonia; ATB: antibiotic; MIC: minimal inhibitory concentration; RDS: respiratory distress syndrome; Ab: antibody; TSLP: thymic stromal lymphopoietin; PAP: pulmonary alveolar proteinosis; RSV: respiratory syncytial virus; ADME: absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination; AUC: area under curve; CHMP: Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use; IVIVC: *in vitro-in vivo* correlation; CYP: cytochrome P450; DBS: dried blood spot; BAL: bronchoalveolar lavage; ELF: epithelial lining fluid; OECD: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development; ICAPPP: International Council on Animal Protection in Pharmaceutical Programs; FIH: first in human; GLP: good laboratory practices; MMAD: mass median aerodynamic diameter; EU: European Union; REACH: Registration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals.

Table of contents

Introduction

- 1. Models for the pharmacodynamics of inhaled pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals
 - 1.1. Fundamentals of pharmacodynamics for inhaled drug products
 - 1.2. Model for the development of inhaled pharmaceuticals in airways inflammation and bronchial hyperresponsiveness importance of the guinea pig
 - 1.3. Models for the development of inhaled pharmaceuticals for viral lung infections importance of the ferret
 - 1.4. Models for inhaled pharmaceuticals against bacterial lung infections
 - 1.5. Models for inhaled drugs in respiratory distress syndrome
 - 1.6. Requirement of specific and dedicated animal models for inhaled biopharmaceuticals
- 2. Normal lung models for characterizing the pharmacokinetics of inhaled pharmaceuticals
 - 2.1. ADME considerations of inhaled pharmaceuticals
 - 2.2. Studying lung-specific pharmacokinetic processes in experimental models
 - 2.2.1. Deposition of inhaled pharmaceuticals in experimental models
 - 2.2.2. Dissolution of inhaled pharmaceuticals in experimental models
 - 2.2.3. Inhaled drug clearance by the mucociliary transport system and alveolar macrophages
 - 2.2.4. Pulmonary tissue absorption/retention and metabolism of inhaled pharmaceuticals
 - 2.3. Sampling in animal models to investigate pharmacokinetics of inhaled pharmaceuticals
 - 2.3.1. Blood sampling
 - 2.3.2. Sampling in the lung compartment

3. Models for toxicological studies of inhaled pharmaceuticals

- 3.1. Regulatory guidelines for the toxicity assessment of inhaled drugs
- 3.2. Inherent specificities of toxicity studies for inhaled pharmaceuticals
 - 3.2.1. Choice and use of animal
 - 3.2.2. Aerosol generation and administration
 - 3.2.3. Dosimetry / Lung exposition to pharmaceutical aerosols
 - 3.2.4. Assessment of respiratory tract toxicity

4. Relevance of animal models for inhaled (bio)pharmaceutical development

5. Alternatives to animal models of inhaled pharmaceuticals

Conclusions and future directions

Introduction

Like any new chemical entities (referred to in this review as pharmaceuticals) or biotechnology-derived products (referred to as biopharmaceuticals), the development of inhaled drugs from laboratory concept to regulatory approval by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the European Medicines Agency (EMA) or other regulatory institutions, is generally multi-step, long and costly. To guarantee drug quality and patient safety, the FDA and the EMA provide guidelines on the investigations that should be carried out on medicinal products. Such guidelines cover nonclinical - pharmacodynamics (PD), pharmacokinetics (PK) and toxicity studies - and clinical studies, some of them being done according to Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) regulations. Well-designed preclinical (or nonclinical) studies are foundational and critical to successful pharmaceutical or biopharmaceutical development programs. The design of nonclinical studies varies greatly and depends on drug characteristics, in particular their nature (pharmaceutical or biopharmaceutical). In some cases, deviations from guidelines may be necessary and accepted by regulatory agencies as long as they are scientifically relevant. Nonclinical studies include in vitro assays (using for instance human samples), in silico modeling and in vivo assessments of the drug's pharmacological properties and safety profile. Although regulatory agencies encourage alternative methods to animal testing for nonclinical studies to comply better with the principle of the 3Rs (replacement, reduction and refinement), animal models remain helpful and/or mandatory for certain phases [1, 2]. During preclinical development, animal models are used as surrogates of humans to predict dose-response. drug toxicity, PK and PD. In the case of inhaled pharmaceuticals, such preclinical evaluations should also be carried out in conditions set to be the most clinically relevant. In this context, the inhalation route is probably the most challenging route of administration in animal models when it comes to extrapolate nonclinical results to humans. Fortunately, many inhaled drugs are repurposed or repositioned drugs for pulmonary delivery, thereby limiting the use of animals to necessary pharmacological studies - usually safety and PK studies - and leading to a more rapid product development [3].

As mentioned in the FDA guidance, inhaled drugs are sorted as follows: (i) inhaled drug products "intended for delivery to the lungs for local and/or systemic effects and administered by metered dose inhalers (MDI), dry powder inhalers (DPI) or nebulizers" and (ii) nasal drug products "applied to the nasal cavity for local and/or systemic effects" [4, 5].

In clinical practice, inhaled drug products can be administered in the respiratory tract as dry or liquid aerosols. In the case of dry aerosols, drugs are formulated as powders, which are de-agglomerated and dispersed into fine inhalable particles by a DPI. Conversely, liquid aerosols consist in fine droplets produced from liquid drug formulations (solutions or suspensions), which can be aerosolized as single puffs (a few microliters) by MDIs through the release of a compressed gas, or continuously with nebulizers, which can aerosolize several milliliters of drug product. Three types of nebulizers can be used for such purposes: jet nebulizers (which use a compressed gas source), ultrasonic nebulizers (droplet generation resulting from the application of ultrasounds) or mesh nebulizers (in which droplets are produced by passing the drug liquid through a calibrated mesh) [6]. In animal models, - as reviewed elsewhere in the manuscript - experimental drugs can also be administered in the airways either as bulk or aerosolized liquids, or as powders for which aerosolization is mandatory.

In this review, we considered only orally inhaled drug products for the treatment of respiratory diseases and described the experimental models used for regulatory studies leading to their approval. It is noteworthy that the majority of inhaled drugs has been used for decades and approved long ago when regulatory guidelines were not well documented. Despite ours efforts to review animal models described in the literature and regulatory application files for marketed inhaled pharmaceuticals, including models for PD, PK and toxicity studies, we may have missed some information. We also chose to highlight the requirements and particularities of animal models used for the preclinical development of biopharmaceuticals, since they are the fastest growing class of therapeutics and have a tremendous opportunity to benefit to patients with respiratory diseases.

This review describes, first, the experimental models for PD of inhaled pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals, highlighting their relevance to mimic some features of human pathophysiology. Next, it addresses strengths and weaknesses of animal models for PK assessments used to define effective and safe dosage regimens for first-in-human (FIH) studies. Finally, it discusses experimental models and regulatory guidelines used for toxicity assessment of inhaled pharmaceuticals.

1. Models for the pharmacodynamics of inhaled pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals

1.1 Fundamentals of pharmacodynamics for inhaled drug products

PD is defined as the response of the body to a drug and refers to as "What the drug does to the body". PD studies are intended to investigate "the mode of action and/or effects of a substance in relation to its desired therapeutic target", as referred by the EMA [7]. Together with PK, they help explain the relationship between drug concentration at the site of action and the resulting effects (regarding intensity and time course), whether they are desirable or adverse, and select the dose for nonclinical and clinical studies. They often do not comply with GLP regulations.

In the case of inhaled pharmaceuticals, the site of action can be either the respiratory tract (topical action) or elsewhere (systemic effects). For most inhaled drugs, the concentration at the site of action usually determines the intensity of drug's effect and is directly correlated to aerosol deposition, making aerosol delivery critical to achieve the expected response. Inhaled drug effects can also be modified by pathological conditions and can be studied using several experimental models – *in vitro* or *in vivo* – trying to reproduce, at least to a certain extent, the clinical situations in which it is intended to be used.

Many inhaled products being repurposed or repositioned for pulmonary delivery [3], their efficacy has not always been established after inhalation delivery. For example, primary PD of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) drugs (including muscarinic receptor antagonists, β2-adrenergic receptor agonists and corticosteroids) were studied in vitro in genetically-modified cell-lines or ex vivo in airway explants from both human and animal origin to assess drug affinity for its cognate receptor. Such drugs can also be associated into combinations of two or three products, each of them being typically characterized alone in preclinical models and used as a single therapy in the clinics. Usually, such combinations are intended for the treatment of multifactorial complex diseases, such as asthma and COPD (see Table 1), modulate the activity of different targets, improve the selectivity/efficacy of single molecules and decrease side-effects and toxicity [8]. So far, additional in vivo experiments are not required for the nonclinical development of combinations containing approved compounds. This may be questionable since many combinations emerge from the clinical practice and were not designed as such from scratch. Thus, our understanding of the molecular interactions of these combined drugs may be incomplete.

Looking closely to the animal models used for the development of inhaled pharmaceutics (see Table 1), several of them can be distinguished for PD studies.

1.2 Model for the development of inhaled pharmaceuticals in airways inflammation and bronchial hyperresponsiveness – importance of the guinea pig

Guinea pig is a species of rodents, often used as a surrogate for humans in inhalation studies owing to its anatomical and physiological resemblance with human lungs [9, 10] and its capability to cough and sneeze. In addition, it is the species that most closely matches the human pharmacology of M2-, M3-muscarinic and β 2-adrenergic receptors [11] and the autonomic innervation of airway smooth muscles [12, 13]. As a result, contractile and relaxant agonists of airway smooth muscles display similar potency and efficacy in guinea pigs and humans, leading to an extensive use in the preclinical assessment of inhaled bronchodilators and corticosteroids in COPD and asthma (see Table 1, [14, 15]). For the two drug classes currently available (namely muscarinic receptor antagonists and β 2-adrenergic

receptor agonists, which have both demonstrated their clinical efficacy with limited side effects [16]), guinea pigs were used for preclinical mimicking of bronchoconstriction induced mainly by methacholine or acetylcholine (see Table 1).

The first experimental model of asthma in guinea pigs was established in 1937 [17], taking advantage of their hypersensitivity response to allergens (*i.e.* smooth muscle contraction,...), mainly attributable to histamine acting on histamine H1 receptors, which are similarly expressed in guinea pigs and humans [14]. Afterwards, guinea pigs were used as an asthma model to test the preclinical efficacy of bronchodilators or corticosteroids against histamine-induced lung inflammation (see Table 1). The major drawback of guinea pigs comes from their prominent tendency to develop a lung axon reflex (activation of sensitive nerves in the airways, subsequently inducing characteristic features of asthma in response to challenge) or insult, which is not observed in humans [18-20]. In addition, the limited diversity of specific reagents, the paucity of wild-type strains and the lack of genetically-modified strains limit their use for in-depth comprehension of the molecular mechanisms associated with allergy or COPD. Finally, guinea pigs have long-time gestation and give birth to few offspring as compared to other rodent species [14].

1.3 Models for the development of inhaled pharmaceuticals for viral lung infections – importance of the ferret

Ferrets were used to assess the preclinical efficacy of the inhaled antiviral molecules laninamivir [21], zanamivir [22, 23] and sialidase [24], owing to their high sensitivity to human strains of influenza virus [25]. This is probably due to the expression of α 2-6-linked terminal N-acetylneuramidic sialic acid in the respiratory tract [26]. This is the not the case for mice, which require time-consuming viral adaptation. Following infection, ferrets exhibit clinical symptoms observed in humans, including sneezing, fever, nasal discharge and inflammation [27]. In comparison, rodents or non-human primates (NHPs) (depending on the strain) do not recapitulate all these features, thereby limiting extrapolation of results to humans in which mitigation of symptoms is one of the primary endpoints in clinical trials. In addition, influenza virus can be transmitted between ferrets, recapitulating an essential and "natural" characteristic of the human disease. Finally, the upper and lower respiratory tracts of ferrets present similarities with humans.

Despite the pathophysiological relevance of the ferret model towards influenza infection, ferrets are not perfect because of the limited availability of animal suppliers, genetic heterogeneity due to outbred background, high husbandry costs, lack of immunological reagents and genetically-modified strains. Additionally, they may not be appropriate to assess the efficacy of (inhaled) anti-flu antibodies: indeed, the human Fc displayed a very short half-life in ferrets as compared to mice [28]. Additionally, inhalation delivery (under

liquid or dry forms) is not easy to perform in ferrets. That is presumably why investigational studies used dissolved compounds and the intranasal route for administration, which is questionable [29]. Future directions include (i) the development of genetically-modified strains benefiting from the recent publication of the ferret genome [30] and the development of the CRISPR-CAS technology, (ii) a reduction of costs associated with ferrets use considering the positioning of ferrets for antiviral drug development since 2008 and a worldwide effort to understand pandemic influenza viruses and (iii) a refining of the route of administration for antiviral drugs with the development of specific devices which may mimic better human inhalation [31].

1.4 Models for inhaled pharmaceuticals against bacterial lung infections

Inhaled therapeutics are developed to fight bacterial lung infections mainly for two respiratory conditions: ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP) and cystic fibrosis (CF). VAP is a nosocomial pneumonia that complicates the clinical course of mechanically-ventilated patients in intensive care units (ICUs). CF is characterized by recurrent bronchial obstruction due to mucus accumulation, bacterial airways infections and persistent inflammation. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is one of the predominant pathogens responsible of lung infection in both clinical situations. The eradication of *P. aeruginosa* has become increasingly difficult due to its remarkable capacity to resist to intravenous antibiotics (ATBs). Therefore, inhaled ATBs have been developed as alternative strategies.

Preclinical testing of inhaled ATBs is usually carried out on bacterial cultures (including laboratory, clinical, and drug-resistant isolates) rather than in animal models, as is the case for systemically-delivered ATBs. The results help identify the best lead with the lowest minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC), to decipher the mechanism of action (bactericidal *vs* bacteriostatic) and resistance potency [32, 33].

Experimental models of nosocomial pneumonia have been set up in a wide range of laboratory species. However, animals should be anesthetized and ventilated in their physiologic prone position for several days and handled in experimental conditions reproducing the ICU environment to model VAP accurately. Specific ventilator settings are critical for the performance of nebulization and should be close to those used in ventilated patients. For these reasons, a mechanically-ventilated anesthetized piglet model has been developed, combining prolonged mechanical ventilation with massive bronchial inoculation of highly concentrated pathogens [34]. Bactericidal efficiencies of aerosolized and intravenous ATBs have been compared in this model [35]. More generally, mechanically-ventilated anesthetized piglets are largely used to model aerosol delivery during invasive mechanical ventilation in humans (adults).

The development of inhaled anti-P. aeruginosa ATBs to treat respiratory infections in CF patients mainly relied on clinical studies along with preclinical studies in rodents. Most murine experiments used a simple one-hit strategy, far from representing CF features. It usually consisted in a unique administration of a large bacterial inoculum, giving rise to pulmonary or extra-pulmonary infections depending on the injection site – intratracheal/intranasal delivery resulted in pneumonia while systemic injection (thigh or intravenous) led to upper respiratory tract infection or sepsis (see Table 1). Besides, those models are characterized by acute infections - with a high 1 to 3-day mortality - which is far from P. aeruginosa colonization or chronic infection encountered in CF patients. Another pitfall of wild-type mice is the lack of bronchial submucosal glands and consequently mucus over-production as observed in CF patients, which may represent a substantial barrier for inhaled therapy [36]. Thus, several other species have been considered for CF studies, including the pig [37]. Anatomically, pigs have submucosal glands, relevant target tissues for CF pathogenesis, which spreads along cartilaginous airways into the pulmonary parenchyma. Hopefully, genetically-modified CF pigs will be helpful to accelerate translational research and optimize inhaled antimicrobials in this pathological context.

1.5 Models for inhaled drugs in respiratory distress syndrome

Surfactant deficiency leads alveoli to collapse during normal tidal breathing, resulting in generalized atelectasis and ultimately respiratory failure. Several animal-derived surfactants are marketed and delivered topically through intratracheal instillation to prevent and treat respiratory distress syndromes (RDS) in preterm infants with surfactant deficiency due to lung immaturity (also known as Hyaline Membrane Disease). Interestingly, the first attempt to deliver surfactant phospholipids (dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine) in the airways was achieved by aerosolization in infants at risk of developing a RDS and failed to demonstrate any beneficial effect of surfactants. In the 1970s, Enhorning and Robertson successfully developed a rabbit model of surfactant replacement therapy. Preterm rabbits were supplemented intratracheally with animal-derived surfactants from mature rabbits, paving the way for the development of effective surfactant treatments and further evaluation in newborn infants [38]. Up to now, a wide variety of surfactant products, both extracts derived from animals and synthetic (protein-free) surfactants, have been developed and tested either in premature rabbits, like the princeps study, or neonate lambs reproducing deficiency of pulmonary surfactants. It is noteworthy that several late-stage clinical trials are currently testing inhalation of (aerosolized) surfactant for RDS treatment (NCT03058666, NCT02294630, NCT03582930).

1.6 Requirement of specific and dedicated animal models for inhaled biopharmaceuticals

Biopharmaceuticals are defined as "therapeutic materials produced using biological means, including recombinant DNA technology", and comprise protein therapeutics (antibodies (Abs) and other proteins), vaccines, antisens, RNAi technologies and molecular technologies. Presently, there is only one marketed inhaled biopharmaceutical- dornase alpha, a recombinant enzyme used as a mucolytic in CF patients. Despite the paucity of inhaled biopharmaceuticals on the market, we chose to address inhaled biopharmaceuticals in this review since several inhaled molecules are in clinical development and biopharmaceuticals represent approximately 25% of the global drug market (2010-2017 data [39]) and have a tremendous opportunity to benefit to patients with unmet needs in respiratory medicine [40]. With the exception of a few vaccines, all inhaled biopharmaceuticals in clinical trials are recombinant protein therapeutics (see Table 2). It is not surprising, as protein therapeutics make up two thirds of the marketed biopharmaceuticals. One of the main features of protein therapeutics is their high specificity for their molecular target, on the one hand limiting their off-target activity and on the other hand allowing restricted species cross-reactivity. Standard rodent models are often inadequate to assess PD of lead protein therapeutics, thereby necessitating the use of surrogate molecules for mechanistic studies. For instance, the efficacy of CSJ117, an anti-human-thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) antibody fragment, has never been preclinically tested before its evaluation by inhalation in adults with mild atopic asthma. The proposed mechanism of action of CSJ117 relies in part on a study with an anti-mouse TSLP receptor Ab tested in a murine model of asthma (see Table 2), complemented by in vitro assays. Indeed, the EMA encourages the use of in vitro assays to assess the biological activity of biotechnology-derived pharmaceutics. As stated by the EMA, cellular assays can be used "to predict specific aspects of in vivo activity" and "assist in the selection of an appropriate animal species for further *in vivo* pharmacology" [41].

As shown in Table 1 and Table 2, the animal models used in PD studies are diversified, including large mammals and genetically-modified rodent models. Genetic manipulations result in knock-out, knock-in and transgenic animals and are largely spread out in mice [42]. The advances in genetic engineering technologies and the ability to generate animal models with genetic alterations linked to human diseases made the mouse a popular model for biopharmaceuticals. For instance, several preclinical studies for sargramostim/molgramostim were conducted in GM-CSF knock-out mice with a surrogate drug - a recombinant murine GM-CSF. The animals spontaneously developed pathological features resembling the human disease pulmonary alveolar proteinosis (PAP). Humanized mice, in which murine genes are replaced with their respective human orthologues, are also interesting for the development of inhaled protein therapeutics. For example, the activity of PRS-060/AZD1402

- an anticalin antagonist of human IL-4 receptor alpha - was tested in a human cell line and its efficacy was assessed in humanized mice expressing human IL4Ra and IL-4/13. It is noteworthy that mice with a reconstituted human immune system would certainly be valuable for inhaled protein therapeutics since respiratory diseases are often associated with immune dysfunction.

Larger animal models have also been used for inhaled protein therapeutics, usually in parallel of a rodent model as they allow the delivery in conditions closer to inhalation in humans. Notably, ALX-0171 (trimeric) Nanobody[™] was given by inhalation in newborn lambs, using a face-mask, to assess the therapeutic response against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection. The use of NHP models is also on the rise with biopharmaceuticals, especially for the nonclinical development of therapeutic Abs, as they are often the only relevant species based on biological and immunological considerations. The anti-asthmatic action of both CDP7766 and pitrakinra was evaluated in an allergic asthma model developed in NHPs and induced by *Ascaris suum*; proteins were delivered through aerosol delivery (by nebulization). Although NHPs are relevant for both biopharmaceuticals and aerosol delivery, the increasing ethical pressure of the society makes them more and more difficult to use for scientific purposes and drug development.

2. Normal lung models for pharmacokinetic studies of inhaled drugs

2.1 ADME considerations for inhaled pharmaceuticals

PK studies are carried out to support studies on clinical efficacy and define effective and safe dosage regimens, and are not always performed according to GLP standards. PK speaks of "What the body does to the drug" and the principal objectives are to describe the absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of the active substance (sometime referred to as ADME), which is a requirement of regulatory agencies around the world.

Absorption refers to both the rate and extent in which inhaled pharmaceuticals are available systemically. Depending on their physicochemical properties, drugs are absorbed either by transcellular absorption or through the tight junctions (paracellular absorption). Absorption is usually determined from plasma/blood concentration-time curve data following. Systemic exposure of inhaled drugs follows absorption, either directly into the pulmonary circulation, or through the gastrointestinal tract (after ingestion of oropharyngeal deposits and drug removed from the lung by mucociliary clearance). Although new *in vitro* screening methods (organs-on-a-chip) are developed and may be relevant, animal models remain the standard to analyse absorption. Distribution refers to the transfer of inhaled drugs to other relevant body fluids and tissues not belonging to the respiratory system, usually following absorption. For instance, the central nervous system may be directly reached by aerosol particles through the nose-to-brain pathway [43]. Metabolism refers to the study of metabolites that

can be formed within the lungs after aerosol drug deposition. For example, ciclesonide (an inhaled corticosteroid) is pharmacologically inactive; its transformation into a sole pharmacologically active metabolite, desisobutyryl-ciclesonide, occurs in the lung [44]. Excretion refers to the internal elimination rates (*e.g.* renal and hepatic eliminations) of the inhaled drug and its active metabolites.

Looking at the regulatory applications of inhaled pharmaceuticals, ADME studies are not always conducted during inhaled drug development. Indeed, drugs are often repurposed for inhalation and there are already available data in the literature regarding ADME (for other routes). The distribution, metabolism and excretion of inhaled drugs are not expected to change after their absorption into the systemic circulation, thereby data obtained with other routes can be considered relevant for inhalation delivery. For instance, the distribution of inhaled tobramycin powder was not evaluated but relied on results obtained with ¹⁴C-labelled tobramycin injected subcutaneously in rats. In contrast, drug absorption and lung exposure, which depend on the route of administration, are usually investigated following inhalation. The assessment of systemic exposure can constitute an integral part of the toxicity studies, named toxicokinetics. As referred by the EMA, toxicokinetics is defined as "the generation of pharmacokinetic data, either as an integral component in the conduct of nonclinical toxicity studies, or in specially designed supportive studies, in order to assess systemic exposure". Toxicokinetics is carried out in a relevant animal model, with the pharmaceuticals administered by the intended route to describe systemic exposure. Measurements consist in blood sampling (plasma or whole blood or serum) to measure the concentration of inhaled drugs and/or relevant metabolites. As an example, absorption, systemic and lung exposures of inhaled tobramycin powder were investigated in the serum and lung tissues of rats and dogs in single- and multiple-dose toxicity studies. Because systemic exposure of inhaled drugs also follows gastrointestinal absorption, one cannot rule out that investigations in animal models following parenteral or oral administration provide somehow relevant data to inhalation exposure. For instance, ADME of colistimethate sodium or colistin sulphate was investigated in various animal models following oral and intravenous administration when developed as a powder for inhalation. For biopharmaceuticals, such as protein therapeutics, animal ADME studies may not be relevant for biological and immunological reasons. For example, the elimination of human alpha1-proteinase inhibitor in animals was not representative of the situation in humans due to protein immunogenicity; the lack of data was regarded as acceptable by the EMA/Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP).

2.2 Studying lung-specific pharmacokinetic processes in experimental models

For inhaled drugs, it is also important to consider what happens before systemic absorption (see Figure 1), which comprises (i) drug deposition into the respiratory tract as only a fraction of the loaded drug effectively reaches the lungs; (ii) drug dissolution in the lung fluids; (iii) clearance through the mucociliary system in the conducting airways (and then transfer to the gastrointestinal tract by swallowing) and macrophages in the alveolar space; and (iv) pulmonary tissue absorption/retention and pulmonary metabolism.

2.2.1 Deposition of inhaled drugs in experimental models

Only a fraction of the dose loaded in the device gets deposited in the lungs, while the remaining fraction may be lost in the device, spread in the environment, or deposited in the oro-nasopharynx and then swallowed. In humans, inhaled drug deposition is influenced by aerosol particle size, drug formulation, inhalation flow, device performances and disease-related factors.

Regarding the relevance of animal models for this purpose, lung exposure is ultimately dictated by the respective deposition/clearance balance of each species, which may limit transposition of the results even when comparing an identical inhalation setup. Indeed, aerosol deposition in the lungs is also conditioned by animal breathing patterns, ventilation parameters and airways anatomy, among others. Differences in respiratory physiology and body size thus lead to heterogeneities among mammals (including humans). Interspecies comparisons of lung anatomy have been reviewed in more details elsewhere [6]. As a result, aerosol particles display different deposition profiles in mammals, in terms of both preferential deposition sites and deposition rates. Particle size is an important determinant, as particles under 0.5 µm are unlikely to deposit in the lungs of rodents, dogs or humans [45]. The available literature reports roughly similar overall deposition of 1-5 µm particles in nose-breathing humans, monkeys and dogs, while lower deposition levels were retrieved in rats [46]. Conversely, nasal and tracheobronchial deposition are exaggerated in rats as compared to humans [47]. Pulmonary deposition seems to follow similar trends, with dogs and monkeys being close to humans, and rats displaying lower deposition rates. Finally, optimal particle size for aerosol deposition differs among species: while maximal relative lung deposition is obtained with particles of about 1 µm for rats, 2-4 µm is more suitable for human lungs [45].

In practice, several methods are available to deliver pharmaceuticals/biopharmaceuticals in the lungs of laboratory animals (see Section 3.2.2). Non-invasive aerosol delivery methods - in spontaneously breathing animals - result in important extra-pulmonary deposition and absorption. Indeed, because experimental animal models are mostly nose-breathing, a large amount of the inhaled aerosol deposits in the nasal cavity. This fraction may be transmitted to the GI compartment, where it can be absorbed into the bloodstream. It is noteworthy that

some aerosol procedures in non-anesthetized animals may induce stresses require restraint and tight-fitting seals around the animals, leading to stress-induced modifications of the respiratory and circulatory physiology (*e.g.* increased respiratory rate and blood flow) that can be confounding factors for PK analyses. Thus, it is worth getting the animals accustomed to the procedure [48].

Alternatively, oro- or intra-tracheal administration consists in delivering a suspension of drug droplets/particles directly into the trachea using a spray/aerosol and bypasses the oronasopharynx [49-53]. To a PK point of view, direct intratracheal administration it reduces extra-pulmonary absorption [54, 55]. The rate of lung absorption of the inhaled active substance could thus be quantified and compared to an equivalent intravenous dose [53]. Despite its advantages (*e.g.* limited amount of drug required, precise dosing and bypassing of the nasal structures), this method of administration lacks representativeness towards human aerosol administration. Moreover, this technique is invasive and the anaesthesia may impact biological functions (altered mucociliary clearance, surfactant destabilization, increase of alveolar epithelial permeability) [56-58]. It is also noteworthy that oro-/intra-tracheal delivery may induce lung lesions, modifying the passage of the drug from the lungs to the systemic circulation and therefore biasing blood-derived PK [59]. Hence, intratracheal administration is rather adapted to early discovery steps (*e.g.* PD studies), compound screening or mechanistic toxicity studies.

Aerosol delivery during invasive mechanical ventilation in animal models is particularly relevant to a translational point of view for PK studies, as the oropharynx is bypassed and sealed by the endotracheal tube. For example, mechanically ventilated pigs have been commonly used to study inhaled ATBs PK [34, 60]. In this experimental setting, one can consider that ATB concentration in the blood is appropriate to predict the inhaled drug behaviour in the lung compartment. Ventilator-assisted aerosol inhalation has been applied with success in rodents, reproducing a lung-physiological drug deposition profile [61, 62]. A step ahead is to study PK in animal models of lung infections, as lung lesions may critically influence the bioavailability calculated from the plasma/serum concentration time profiles [53, 63, 64].

Finally, it is important to consider the impact of the device intended for animal experiments on drug stability - especially if the case of biopharmaceuticals. For instance, protein therapeutics may aggregate during the aerosolization process [65, 66] and such aggregates may display a different behaviour compared to the native protein and induce antidrug antibody (ADA), ultimately impairing PK profiles [67-69].

Finally, the assessment of inhaled drug deposition in experimental models poorly takes into consideration the patient/inhaler interaction. How and when the patient uses the inhaler or nebulizer is crucial for drug delivery to the lung, still this factor is absent in animal

experiments. Non-adherence to therapy has been identified as the main factor for lack of disease control in asthma: a large majority of patients fulfilled the criteria of suboptimal adherence, which was defined as <80% of prescriptions filled. Next, the inhalers, *per se*, are critical for deposition performance. A wide range of inhaler devices and systems are available in the clinics. In recent years, several technical innovations have improved device portability, materials of manufacture, breath actuation, the interface with the patient, combination therapies, dose tracking, etc. These recent developments are critical for the overall therapy performance but can hardly be integrated in the practical design of experimental protocols. For *in vitro-in vivo* correlation (IVIVC), the absence of these two last parameters (*i.e.* patient inhaler interaction and inhaler types and properties) is an important limiting factor.

2.2.2 Dissolution of inhaled pharmaceuticals in experimental models

After deposition, aerosol particles, especially solid ones, are expected to dissolve into the epithelial lining fluids, which consist in (i) the airway lining fluid and the mucus in the conducting airways and (ii) the alveolar lining fluid and the pulmonary surfactant in the alveolar region [70]. Drug dissolution in the lining fluids directly impacts drug absorption/lung retention and depends on its physicochemical properties, formulation and pathophysiological factors of the patient. Molecular size and hydrophobicity are determinant for dissolution and transport across lining fluids. Besides, drug formulation can be optimized to enhance or reduce the dissolution rate for short-acting drugs, or to extend lung retention and effect of duration, respectively. The mucus layer is a gel whose thickness varies along the conducting airways [71]; it usually acts as a barrier towards drugs. Mucus Diffusion diffusion of macromolecules, such as biopharmaceuticals, through the mucus partly depends on their size and molecular weight [72]. In pathological conditions, mucus dehydration and thickening may impair drug dissolution and transport/absorption [73]. Surfactant may have a dual role facilitating the dissolution of inhaled drugs (e.g. glucocorticosteroids) but increasing their clearance when used as an excipient (e.g. tobramycin) [74-76]. Dissolution of inhaled pharmaceuticals is mostly investigated in vitro and ex vivo, in isolated and perfused lungs from animals. It is noteworthy that some experimental models (mice, rabbits) lack bronchial submucosal glands, making them less relevant to assess the impact of inhaled drug dissolution/transport across lining fluids [77, 78].

2.2.3 Inhaled drug clearance by the mucociliary transport system and alveolar macrophages

Once aerosol particles are deposited, lung-specific clearance mechanisms may modify final lung exposure to the drug as well as systemic absorption from the lungs (see Figure 1). The

mechanisms involved partly depend on the particle characteristics (*i.e.* their solubility in airway fluids, protein binding capacity, physical size, etc.), but also on their site of deposition (which correlates with particle size).

In the upper airways (nasopharynx and trachea), particles may be removed by mechanical efforts such as sneezing, coughing and eventually swallowing. Besides, mucociliary transport plays a major role in particle removal from the airways. Interestingly, the literature does not report major differences in tracheobronchial clearance among mammals, in spite of heterogeneous mucus velocities: in small animals, lower mucus velocity may be compensated by shorter airways [77]. However, the lack of bronchial submucosal glands in small rodents (mice, rabbits) has to be considered [77].

Conversely, alveolar clearance is more variable across species, partly due to heterogeneous number, size and distribution of alveolar macrophages, which are involved in the uptake and elimination of insoluble particles [77, 79]. Distribution of alveolar macrophages are different in rats, dogs, baboons, and humans ; superior number of alveolar macrophages are observed in human lungs [79], which may result in faster alveolar clearance [79]. Finally, enzymatic clearance is also a source of heterogeneity across mammals, through the differential expression of cytochromes P450 (CYP) and phase II enzymes by several cell types in the airways [80]. For instance, the human lung expresses low levels of CYP as compared to the liver, whereas the levels are similar in rats (despite variations in isoenzymes) [81].

2.2.4 Pulmonary tissue absorption/retention and metabolism

The rate and extent of lung uptake depends on drug physicochemical properties lipophilicity, ionization, affinity for tissue macromolecules and pulmonary tissue partitioning coefficient - and patient characteristics [70]. Drugs distribute in the lungs through passive diffusion, and then interact with cells, partitioning into membranes and subcellular organelles. Any inter- and intra-species differences that may significantly affect pulmonary tissue absorption should be taken into consideration when selecting an animal model. For example, absorption of lipid-insoluble drugs is different from one species to another. On the contrary, lipid-soluble drugs are similarly absorbed into the blood circulation of numerous animal species [46, 82]. Young animals are often used for nonclinical studies, but pulmonary absorption is age-dependent [83]. For instance, the half-time rate of mannitol pulmonary absorption is 32±2 min in neonatal rats, versus 60±6 min in adults [83]. In addition, the duration of lung development differs markedly between mice and humans, limiting simple correction with age [84]. It is noteworthy that interactions of the inhaled drug with endogenous proteins - which expression may substantially vary across the different respiratory biological matrices - should also be taken into consideration to select the most relevant animal model.

Although lungs contain drug-metabolizing enzymes, they are not expected to play a major role in drug metabolism compared to other organs (gastrointestinal tract, liver). However, proteolytic activity in lung lining fluids may be critical for inhaled proteins/peptides, especially during pathological conditions in which the protease-inhibitor balance is impaired. Isolated and perfused lungs from animals (usually rats and rabbits) have been used to investigate the dissolution, absorption and metabolism of many inhaled molecules [85], and provide relevant biochemical data to support inhaled (bio)pharmaceutical PK [85, 86]. For example, polyhydroxyethylaspartamide absorption was investigated in isolated, perfused and ventilated rat lungs and displayed an active, energy- and temperature-dependent absorption mechanism [87]. Similarly, Tronde et al. used isolated and perfused rat lungs to show rapid absorption of an opioid tetrapeptide agonist across the air-blood barrier, associated with limited metabolism in the lungs [88]. Recently, isolated and perfused rat lungs were used to build a mathematical model to predict pulmonary absorption [89]. Techniques for lung perfusion have been described in various species (guinea pigs, rats, rabbits) and isolated lungs provide several assets, such as a careful control of the lung function, easy drug delivery, sampling and mass-balance determination. Drug administration is often done by instillation for simplicity, but ex vivo lungs can be combined with relevant aerosol delivery methods [62, 90]. A major shortcoming is the rapid deterioration of isolated and perfused lungs (4-5 hours), which is not compatible to investigate slow biological processes.

2.3 Sampling in animal models to investigate pharmacokinetics of inhaled pharmaceuticals

2.3.1 Blood sampling

PK of inhaled pharmaceutical are atypical by the fact that blood is not upstream of the site of drug action (as for oral dosage) but downstream. Blood/plasma/serum drug concentrations cannot evaluate bioequivalence at the site of action but rather expected side effects on other organs. As referred by the EMA, toxicokinetics is defined as "the generation of pharmacokinetic data, either as an integral component in the conduct of nonclinical toxicity studies, or in specially designed supportive studies, in order to assess systemic exposure". Toxicokinetics is carried out in a relevant animal model, with the pharmaceuticals administered by the intended route to describe systemic exposure. Measurements consist in blood sampling (plasma or whole blood or serum) to measure the concentration of inhaled drugs and/or relevant metabolites. Blood samples are adequate to evaluate absorption and systemic exposure after inhalation. As mentioned earlier, these important parameters of PK may be evaluated during toxicity studies, thereby constituting toxicokinetics.

However, Some particular features - inherent to the animal models or dependent on the technology used for inhalation - are important to consider when analysing blood samples to

determine PK parameters. Sampling time points depend on the tested substance, the route of administration and the species to avoid any interference with normal physiology. In general, aerosol dosing usually requires much longer sampling than is required for intravenous studies. Mice are not adapted to undertake large and/or multiple blood samplings from lung dosimetry studies, because it is difficult to obtain enough blood from the same animal. To overcome this issue, composite sampling is often used, where blood is collected at different time points from different animals across a time course, providing sufficient volume/time points for PK analysis. As an alternative, serial sampling can be used for Dried Blood Spot (DBS) analysis, which requires a small amount of blood dried as a "spot" on sample cards [91]. In larger animals, multiple blood sampling is not an issue, allowing profiling of systemic serum/plasma levels in one animal.

2.3.2 Sampling in the lung compartment

Lung exposure is an important PK parameter for inhaled pharmaceuticals. It can be estimated by computing blood concentrations in mathematical models. However, given the multifaceted absorption process that follows drug inhalation and the rise of biopharmaceuticals with complex PK profiles, blood is not always a suitable surrogate compartment to predict lung exposure/PK. Samples for PK studies can be collected directly in the respiratory system in the form of lung tissue, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid, or in situ microdialysis. BAL is a procedure consisting in injecting fluid into the lungs and then collecting it by re-aspiration, for examination (i.e. measurement of drug concentration in the airways and epithelial lining fluid). One should be careful of the distinct meaning of BAL in animal experimentation and medicine. In small animals, BAL is usually performed on the whole respiratory tract, via tracheal catheterization; in humans, this procedure concerns distal portions of the lungs (via bronchoscopy) and thus examines alveolar regions. In this prospect, larger animal species better reproduce the human BAL procedure [92]. Usually, BAL provides data for a single time point in one animal because the procedure itself interferes with local drug concentrations and thus PK parameters. Indeed, the injection of saline solution into the lungs induces an artificial dilution of all components. To circumvent this potential bias, it is essential to use an endogenous biomarker that diffuses passively through the different tissue compartments as an internal control [93]. Alternatively, drug concentration can be measured directly in the lung tissue, harvested during animal necropsy and requires careful lung exsanguination to avoid data bias, resection, and homogenization of lung tissue, followed by drug extraction with appropriate solvents. For peptide/proteinbased therapies, attention should be paid to their lability due to the presence of endogenous proteinases. Finally, iterative tissue sampling implies the use of numerous animals and is thus ethically questionable.

In vivo microdialysis is a semi-invasive sampling technique that has been used to study drug PK in various tissues [94-97], including the lungs [95, 98, 99]. Because it does not alter homeostasis, this technique allows repeated measurements from the same animal of soluble and/or unbound drug in the interstitial space,. For instance, continuous PK measurements of various drugs have been successfully performed in the lungs with this technique [95, 98]. Interestingly, lung microdialysis of inhaled biopharmaceuticals has recently been shown feasible [99, 100].

It is also important to consider some inter-species differences that may skew PK analyses. First of all, anatomical characteristics of the lungs considerably differ among mammals (*e.g.* branching scheme of the tracheobronchial system, number and size of the pulmonary acini, lobulation of the lungs) and clearly matter for translating results across species [77]. Any inter- and intra-species differences that may significantly affect the PK profile should be taken into consideration for animal model selection.

3 Models for toxicological studies of inhaled pharmaceuticals

This section provides an overview of the issues associated with toxicology studies for inhaled pharmaceutics, which should be performed according to GLP standards. In addition to similar principles shared with other routes of administration, inhaled drug toxicology presents some specific concerns. Indeed, the generation, delivery and dosing of inhaled materials are of particular importance and require highly controlled experimental conditions. In this context, the use of animal models for inhalation toxicity testing has been historically based on guidelines. Several *in vivo* models are available for inhalation toxicity testing, although the toxicological database for inhaled materials is still limited [101, 102]; besides, the use of animals remains questionable due to interspecies differences in the anatomy, histology and physiology of the respiratory tract [52]. In this context, the use of *in vitro/ex vivo* systems may reduce the unreliability associated with extrapolation across species. However, they may not be able to accurately reproduce the complexity of the inhalation process, which is crucial for a relevant IVIVC regarding drug toxicity.

3.1 Regulatory guidelines for the toxicity assessment of inhaled drugs

The purpose of toxicology studies during pharmaceutical development is to predict, as reliably as possible, the safety profiles of these products once delivered to patients. There are a limited number of specific guidelines for inhalation toxicity studies; study designs are usually similar to those of non-inhaled pharmaceuticals [103] and are not necessarily relevant for this peculiar route of administration. Recently, the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) published test guidelines regarding inhalation and histopathological analyses for acute, 28-day repeated dose and 90-day sub-chronic dose

studies [104-107]. More recently, the pulmonary division of the FDA provided a draft document, which indicates that toxicology packages should include short-term studies (2 to 4 weeks) in two species (comprising one non-rodent) and a 6-month chronical study in the most appropriate species, followed by a carcinogenicity study if proliferative or preneoplastic changes have been observed. Study design should include air control, vehicle control, and complete formulation groups. For repurposed marketed products and according to the amount of preexisting information on systemic toxicity, the FDA recommends a 28-day study in rodent and non-rodent species followed by a 6-month study in the most appropriate species [108].

It is worth noticing that the International Council on Animal Protection in Pharmaceutical Programs (ICAPPP) has urged to re-examine the value of routine testing in a second species, as the use of one species is actually regarded as acceptable when clearly justified.

3.2 Inherent specificities of toxicity studies for inhaled drugs

3.2.1 Choice and use of animal

Animal species selection, as mentioned above, is governed by guideline recommendations but also needs to fulfill specific requirements associated with inhalation itself. Animals should be small enough to ease handling, housing and exposure in sufficient number favoring readily statistical analysis. However, they should be big enough to permit all valuable measurements to assess the toxicity of the inhaled material. While additional factors like animal strain, age, health status as well as housing conditions are universal, reproducible test atmosphere and acclimatization periods to the dosing device are specific for this route and may influence toxicity assessment.

The quest for the best animal model to assess toxicology of inhaled pharmaceuticals appears to be unwise according to the intricate parameters related to this route of administration. As underlined below, specific issues of species susceptibilities, exposure methods, formulation, dose administered and end-points to monitor make the selection of the most relevant animal model difficult.

3.2.2 Aerosol generation and administration

Regulatory safety assessments most commonly recommend administration to animal species using aerosol inhalation, to be as close as possible to human conditions. In practice, aerosol inhalation is commonly achieved by dispersing the aerosol into a controlled stream of air, which is ultimately inhaled through an interface. Different types of apparatus, compatible with the most common inhalers (*i.e.* nebulizers, DPIs and MDIs) can be used [109] and can broadly be sorted as whole-body or nose-only exposing devices. In whole-body systems, entire animals are exposed to the tested atmosphere; they tend to see their use decrease,

due to considerable drug losses and massive fur deposition, leading to drug ingestion through self-grooming [47]. As a result, lung exposure is generally weak as reported to the drug concentration in the breathed air, in addition to unwanted systemic delivery. Targeting the animal breathing zone - to reduce the amount of drug needed, increase lung deposition yields and obtain experimental conditions closer to human inhalation - is feasible with noseonly exposure systems for rodents and lagomorphs and helmets, face masks or oropharyngeal tubes for non-rodent species (e.g. dogs, sheep, and monkeys) [109, 110]. The selection of the inhalation device may be also guided by drug specificities: oro/endo-tracheal tubes may be relevant for limited-amount drugs, or in case of reported deleterious nasal irritancy [47]. This type of equipment offers interesting possibilities in terms of breathing patterns: anesthetized dogs can be placed in spontaneous breathing or under mechanical ventilation, continuously or with breath holds (to mimic the human breathing pattern during aerosol inhalation) [110]. However, a large part of the upper airways is bypassed, which may limit prediction of human toxicity in this area. Nose-only devices and face masks are better adapted for a global exposition of the respiratory tract. However, this mode of administration may lead to overestimations of nose exposure, due to differences in respiratory physiology between laboratory species and humans [52, 109]. Overall, consideration should be given to the similarities between the device, the dosing apparatus and the formulation used in preclinical studies and those used in humans in order to make relevant interspecies correlations. Indeed, excipients (including propellants used in MDIs) may modify the behavior of the aerosolized drug in terms of particle size, mucoadhesion, dissolution in lung fluids, or safety profile. Thus, guidance recommends to perform GLP toxicity studies with formulations as close as possible to FIH formulations [45].

In practice, aerosol inhalation in animals requires the use of an aerosol generator plugged on an inhalation interface placed between the inhaler and the animal. Aerosol generators frequently differ between discovery, preclinical and FIH studies, due to the specific constraints and desirable characteristics related to each development step. For instance, good laboratory practices (GLP) toxicology studies typically require inhalers compatible with the available exposure systems (see below), whereas in a clinical perspective, patient compliance, portability and cost-effectiveness of the device may be of more importance [6]. As a consequence, different aerosol devices may be used throughout the development process, to fit both the advancement of the drug product (*e.g.* formulation work) and the characteristics of the aerosol administration setup. As an example, for the development of montelukast, a leukotriene receptor antagonist, different types of DPIs were used for PD, toxicology and FIH studies [110]. In such cases, every device should be thoroughly characterized to ensure the predictability of preclinical safety data to humans. Indeed, aerosol characteristics are major determinants of lung deposition, and thus of potential toxicity. Another strategy would consist in employing the same device for preclinical and clinical studies This implies either to use a marketed device, or to design the final inhaler at an early stage in the drug development program. In this case, safety evaluations could be carried out with the final device, which might, to virtually circumvent any data bridging issues [110]. But, other transposability concerns may emerge from this approach. For example, the device should be suitable with available animal exposure systems and should guarantee a similar deposition rate in animals (especially with regards to aerosol particle size).

3.2.3 Dosimetry / Lung exposition to pharmaceutical aerosols

To assess in a reliable way the toxicity of inhaled drugs, the evaluation of lung exposure to the investigated aerosol is of particular importance: either the drug is expected to remain (and act) in the lung, or a systemic passage is expected. In both cases, prediction of its toxicity requires to sufficiently expose the lung tissue to the aerosol. In practice, defining and achieving relevant doses in the lungs - *i.e.* sufficiently high to generate toxicity, but also somewhat meaningful regarding the final treatment regimen - remain challenging. More specifically, the peculiarity of the inhaled route lies in the fact that it is almost impossible to accurately determine the dose effectively delivered to the lung.

As mentioned earlier, lung exposition depends on the interplay between deposition and clearance mechanisms, which may not be representative of human physiology in all common laboratory species. This parameter is of paramount importance to control the delivered dose and further assess its toxicity. In animals, the pulmonary dose can be assessed by lung tissue excision and analysis, or by autoradiography following the inhalation of a radiolabeled aerosol [45]. Still, these quite burdensome procedures are often applied on a small number of animals, in single-exposure satellite studies. For larger cohorts, the delivered dose is commonly estimated by the following mathematical formula [47]: Delivered dose = RMV x C x D x F / BW

where RMV = Respiratory Minute Volume, C = drug concentration in the test atmosphere, F = inhaled fraction, D = daily duration of exposure and BW = animal body weight.

However, technical characteristics of the drug product (pharmaceutical form, amount of material available) and of the experimental setup (animal model and inhalation technology) significantly limit the doses achievable in practice [47]. In addition, other technical parameters related to the inhalation apparatus might lower these maximal doses. Based on these considerations, one could propose to adapt tunable parameters of the equation to adjust the delivered dose [111, 112] [113]. Among these parameters, concentration and duration of exposure are controlled and known, as well as body weight. The RMV, which can be measured in some specific experimental setups, is commonly estimated based on the body weight however, this approach does not allow time-related corrections, which may be

relevant in the case of drug-dependent irritancy of the respiratory tract Finally, the inhaled fraction is often considered to be 100%. Additionally, the FDA recommends estimating the pulmonary dose by using deposition factors of 10% and 25% for rodents and non-rodents respectively, depending on the aerosol mass median aerodynamic diameter (MMAD). Another approach is to maintain a MMAD < 4 μ m, as recommended for chronic and subchronic studies, and to use the maximum achievable dose [110]. Exposure times could also be occasionally extended, to increase the inhaled dose. Aerosol characteristics also depend on the type of aerosol generator (nebulizer, MDI, etc.), which bear singular technical limitations. As a result, attainable doses in these conditions are usually less than 1 mg/kg in rodents with MDIs [47]. In the case of inhaled drugs for which systemic exposure is suspected, it may be necessary to complement inhalation exposure with systemic administration to attain substantial toxicity [114], as it has been done for the development of salmeterol [115]. These technical limitations make the limit dose difficult to define in preclinical safety assessments; for low-toxicity drugs, this might be of particular importance, as current toxicity study designs might not allow to reach doses that cause assessable toxicities.

3.2.4 Assessment of respiratory tract toxicity

According to the characteristics of the inhalation route, inhaled therapeutics toxicity must be assessed both locally and systemically [116]. Indeed, local effects reflect the initial (and expected) deposition site of the drug inside the airways, while systemic effects may occur following oral absorption and/or translocation of the drug from the respiratory tract to the blood system. This later condition, which is usually associated with systemically-acting drugs, necessitates the evaluation of systemic toxicity, which can be predicted using toxicokinetic methods. Therefore, when making extrapolation of toxicological data for inhaled drugs, PK data are critical [114].

To assess the local toxicity of inhaled drugs, classical lung histopathological analyses should be performed They include a full necropsy at the end of the exposure time, with organ weight measurement and gross lesions quantification in both proximal and distal regions of the airways [45] and include microscopic examination of cellular infiltration, epithelial damages, necrosis, hyperplasia and fibrosis. Histopathological analyses can be complemented with BAL to document and follow the extent of an inflammatory response and analyze pulmonary functions.

The interpretation of inhaled pharmaceuticals toxicological data from animal models must be done with caution due to species specificities. In this field, large animals like dogs or monkeys provide more relevant results than rats. Indeed, rats usually exhibit squamous metaplasia of the larynx at the end of the dosing period, but this response has been demonstrated to be non-specific and reversible [117]. In addition, rats are prone to a decrease in their number of alveolar macrophages, but, in the absence of other indicators of inflammation, this response is considered as non-adverse [118]. Larger animals may be more relevant in terms of toxicity markers, even though specific species sensitivities cannot be totally ruled out. For instance, toxicity profiling of therapeutic surfactant included a 2-week study in dogs. Intratracheal instillation caused respiratory distress, which was attributed to an exacerbated sensitivity of dogs to volume and/or viscosity of solutions [119]. This exemplifies the importance of testing at least two different animal species during toxicological assessment of inhaled drugs.

Finally, the inhaled drug may have confounding toxic effects on different animal species. It was the case for dornase alpha, a human recombinant DNase I. Inhalation by rats and monkeys induced the production of antidrug-antibodies, whereas in humans, it was not the case [120]. In addition, Histological evidences of lung inflammation were also observed, both concurring to the observation of a non-specific foreign body reaction instead of a toxic reaction due to inhaled dornase alpha in animals. The presence of excipients in drug formulations should also be addressed in toxicological analyses, especially if they are unconventional. This was the case for the development of Afrezza[™], an inhaled form of human insulin (intended for a systemic action), which formulation included fumaryl diketopiperazine. Due to the novelty of this excipient, regulatory agencies asked for a 2-year inhalation carcinogenicity study in rats together with a 6-month subcutaneous study in transgenic mice [121]. A limited number of excipients being currently approved for inhalation, this situation may be encountered for other drugs, especially if their physicochemical properties require the use of novel excipients.

4. Relevance of animal models for inhaled (bio)pharmaceutical development

Nonclinical studies are the pillars for the development of human (inhaled) drug products and successful translation to clinical practice. Although regulatory agencies encourage avoiding unnecessary animal use, animal models (*in vivo* or *ex vivo*) cannot be totally circumvented, so far, in the pharmacological package of inhaled drug products. Many animal species have been used for the non-clinical development of inhaled drugs and discussed in this review. Each animal model displays its own features, advantages and limitations, but none of them is able to mimic perfectly the human respiratory function and its pathophysiology. Based on our experience and the literature [52, 77, 122, 123], we attempted to summarize and score – in Figure 2 and Table 3 - animal models used in PD, PK and toxicology studies for inhaled pharmaceuticals/biopharmaceuticals development. Although a meticulous comparative analysis of the physiologic, technical and experimental features is always required for selecting the most appropriate animal model during drug development [52], it becomes

critical and difficult for inhaled drugs, as the inhalation route is one of the most challenging points when trying to extrapolate animal results to predict inhaled drug behavior in humans.

When looking carefully regulatory application files of inhaled drug products, the most striking point is the paucity of nonclinical studies using mice, while this species is very popular in biomedical research, often considered as a Jack-of-all-trades. For instance, mice models have been widely used in laboratories to dissect molecular mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of asthma or to identify novel targets [124, 125]. However, for PD studies, the anti-inflammatory response to corticosteroid was mostly investigated in guinea pigs, a model of non-pulmonary delayed type hypersensitivity reaction induced by antigen sensitization (see Table 1). This may be attributed to the fact that mice predominantly express β 1-receptors in the airway smooth muscle, lack mediators of hypersensitivity, one feature of allergic asthma, while guinea pigs are more relevant models [126, 127]. Similarly, mice are often neglected for toxicokinetic studies, most probably because they are not appropriate for repeated sampling. Recent advances in genetic engineering technologies and ease of development have rendered mice highly versatile and adapted for the development of inhaled biopharmaceuticals.

Historically, rats were more popular than mice in the study of obstructive pulmonary diseases. Indeed, their larger size and volumes of biological fluids (BAL, blood) are compatible with the measurement of pulmonary functions (airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), acute responses to allergen), and investigation of pulmonary inflammation and PK. A significant advantage of rats over mice is their proximity to humans with regard to lung mechanics (early- and late-phase response as well as AHR [128]). Like mice, their main drawback is due to their tendency of developing tolerance against challenged allergens after sensitization, thereby restraining development of chronic lung pathologic responses and late changes in lung structures (fibrosis, emphysema) as those observed in asthmatic or COPD patients. Their use has declined in favor of mice in recent years, probably due to the limited availability of genetically-modified rats.

Dogs respiratory frequency and tidal volume are close to human respiratory parameters. With the development of aerosol exposure methods mimicking human devices [129], dogs are often used as a non-rodent species for toxicological studies of inhaled drug products. ICH S7A guideline has established the use of conscious dog under non-stressed, physiological conditions has the preferred model for safety studies on the cardiovascular system [130].

Similarly to humans, sheep display several key features of human respiratory tract anatomy including size of the nasal cavity and the airways [131]. Consequently, lambs/sheep have been used as models for aerosol delivery using either mechanical ventilation for the

development of recombinant alpha antitrypsin [132] and surfactants [133] or face-mask aerosol exposure for the development of anti-RSV antibody [134].

Pigs are an interesting surrogate of humans due to anatomical, physiological and metabolic similarities and are considered as a translational model in pharmacological studies [135]. For instance, pigs are appropriate to investigate drug deposition in the lungs and inhaled drug ADME owing to resemblances to humans for respiratory parameters, numerous membrane transport and enzymes [136, 137]. The major limitation of pigs comes from their nose anatomy rendering aerosol administration poorly feasible under spontaneous breathing, their narrow mouth opening making intubation/intratracheal procedures difficult [138] and the financial issues associated with housing requirements/garbage elimination. It is noteworthy that pigs have human-similar lung tissue markers a size compatible with translational lung imaging. These features help exemplify why pigs were considered a leading species candidate for genetic manipulations of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator CFTR [128].

Even if NHP are often considered as the gold standard model by the US FDA for biopharmaceutical development, they require extensive handling to minimize stress as well as anticipated gestures. Primates necessitate specialized equipment and techniques along with increased housing costs and ethical concerns.

5. Alternatives to animal models of inhaled pharmaceuticals

The guidance for industry regarding safety pharmacology studies notifies that the expected clinical route of administration should be used, if possible, during preclinical development. As highlighted in this review, the interspecies physiological, anatomical, cellular and biochemical differences in the respiratory tract along with the financial and labor costs complicate aerosol deposition and inhalation conditions mimicking (drug & device) across species (Figure 2). Thus, *in vitro* models such as anatomical models, impactor technology and mathematical, computational fluid dynamics models to predict aerosol deposition are helpful to bridge animal studies to the first clinical use.

Given the recent public and scientific publications questioning the translational value of animal models and the growing ethical pressure on animal use, it is important that researchers and industrials consider/develop alternative non-animal models to demonstrate drug scientific validity and to reduce their use [139, 140]. Although a complete replacement of animal testing does not appear very reasonable, there have been exciting advances in *in vitro* models of the pulmonary environment, notably (i) culture of epithelial cells at the air-liquid interface (ALI) recapitulating the cellular complexity of the lung epithelium in interaction with air in physiological conditions, (ii) (lung) organoids with tissue-like structures and (iii) the microfluidics lung-on-chip, which recreates a functional alveolar-capillary interface with

stretching forces mimicking the mechanical forces of breathing. They benefit from many advantages like a lack of concerns regarding cross-species correlation, ethical issues and economic constraints and can be supportive for many development stages. Even if in vitro methods for toxicity assessments of inhaled pharmaceuticals have not been officially accepted by regulatory authorities yet, they have benefited from substantial support by the regulatory framework of new European Union (EU) regulations regarding Registration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals (REACH) and the OECD [141]. They have expanded scientific knowledge and speeded up the development of reliable alternative methods, which may be relevant for toxicity testing of the increasing number of inhaled therapeutic products [142]. The main limitation of standard cell culture approaches (nasal/lung epithelial cells (Calu3, Beas2B, 16HBE14o) and alveolar type II cells (A549, H441, hAELVi)) comes from their limited relevance regarding respiratory biology. Indeed, in their physiological environment, airway cells face the air with their apical side while they are supplied by nutrients from their basolateral side. The use of the ALI techniques allows growing epithelial cells in an environment that favors the differentiation program towards and airway phenotype. For respiratory cells, ALI conditions induce the secretion of mucus, surfactant, expression/function of cilia and the expression of tight-junction proteins (see [143, 144] for comprehensive review). These conditions can be used for the culture of both cell lines and primary cells from human biopsies. Refined 3D models may be set up [145] using artificial scaffolds to provide mechanical support for the cells, or co-culturing them with tissue-derived fibroblasts, immune (macrophages, dendritic cells) or endothelial cells. Interestingly, these models can be combined with novel inhalation exposure systems, which may offer new standards in the development of inhaled pharmaceuticals over the coming years [146]. Commercially available systems using gravitational (CULTEX®), impaction (VITROCELL®) or electrostatic (NAVETTA®) deposition can be coupled with human inhalers, further improving the physiological relevance of in vitro toxicology testing [147]. These systems allow the direct application of aerosols onto cell surface more closely resembling the in vivo context and can be kept in culture for months allowing long-term toxicity assessments. Still, they are difficult to implement and require extensive efforts to become reliable and standardized enough to be used as predictive models [148]. No in vitro methods are for instance suitable for regulatory assessment. Howbeit, recent inputs from the academic, industrial and regulatory communities may help in standardizing and making recommendations that may ultimately help validate in vitro methods for toxicology assessment of inhaled pharmaceuticals [149].

Conclusions and future directions

To conclude, "Essentially, all models are wrong, but some are useful" [150]. This is particularly true for the models used for inhaled drug development. None of them fulfills all the criteria to mimic perfectly the human lungs and breathing pattern, thus requiring continuous reassessments in order to make them the most predictive of the clinical conditions. Thanks to the recent advances in cellular and delivery technologies, there is a fascinating outlook for the future of non-animal models in translational medicine and nonclinical assessment of inhaled drug products. In the end, the most important remains the selection of the most predictive model and both animal and non-animal models may be complementary to satisfy the recommendations for pharmacological studies.

Figure legends

Figure 1: Scheme describing the deposition & fate of inhaled (bio)pharmaceuticals. Based on Borghardt *et al.* [151].

Supplementary Figure 1: Identity cards of major animal models used for regulatory approval of inhaled drugs products summarizing their main advantages and limitations

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by a government grant overseen by the French National Research Agency (ANR) as part of the "Investissements d'Avenir" program (reference: ANR-10-LABX-53-01). Figures were created by BioRender.com

References

[1] J. MacArthur Clark, The 3Rs in research: a contemporary approach to replacement, reduction and refinement, The British journal of nutrition, 120 (2018) S1-S7.

[2] I.A. Freires, J.C. Sardi, R.D. de Castro, P.L. Rosalen, Alternative Animal and Non-Animal Models for Drug Discovery and Development: Bonus or Burden?, Pharmaceutical research, 34 (2017) 681-686.
[3] S.P. Newman, Delivering drugs to the lungs: The history of repurposing in the treatment of respiratory diseases, Advanced drug delivery reviews, 133 (2018) 5-18.

[4] FDA, Metered Dose Inhaler (MDI) and Dry Powder Inhaler (DPI) Products - Quality Considerations - Guidance for Industry in: F.a.D.A.-C.f.D.E.a.R. (CDER) (Ed.), FDA,

https://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm, 2018.

[5] FDA, Nasal Spray and Inhalation Solution, Suspension, and Spray Drug Products - Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls Documentation - Guidance for Industry, in: F.a.D.A.-C.f.D.E.a.R. (CDER) (Ed.), FDA, http://www.fda.gov/cder/guidance/index.htm, 2002.

[6] A. Lexmond, B. Forbes, Drug Delivery Devices for Inhaled Medicines, Handbook of experimental pharmacology, 237 (2017) 265-280.

[7] EMA, Non-clinical safety studies for the conduct of human clinical trials for pharmaceuticals, in: C.f.m.p.f.h.u. (CHMP) (Ed.), EMA, www.ema.europa.eu, 2009.

[8] J. Lehar, A.S. Krueger, W. Avery, A.M. Heilbut, L.M. Johansen, E.R. Price, R.J. Rickles, G.F. Short, 3rd, J.E. Staunton, X. Jin, M.S. Lee, G.R. Zimmermann, A.A. Borisy, Synergistic drug combinations tend to improve therapeutically relevant selectivity, Nature biotechnology, 27 (2009) 659-666.

[9] H. Dalen, An ultrastructural study of the tracheal epithelium of the guinea-pig with special reference to the ciliary structure, Journal of anatomy, 136 (1983) 47-67.

[10] A.R. Ressmeyer, A.K. Larsson, E. Vollmer, S.E. Dahlen, S. Uhlig, C. Martin, Characterisation of guinea pig precision-cut lung slices: comparison with human tissues, The European respiratory journal, 28 (2006) 603-611.

[11] B.J. Canning, Modeling asthma and COPD in animals: a pointless exercise?, Current opinion in pharmacology, 3 (2003) 244-250.

[12] B.J. Canning, Reflex regulation of airway smooth muscle tone, Journal of applied physiology, 101 (2006) 971-985.

[13] R.E. Ten Berge, A.F. Roffel, J. Zaagsma, The interaction of selective and non-selective antagonists with pre- and postjunctional muscarinic receptor subtypes in the guinea pig trachea, European journal of pharmacology, 233 (1993) 279-284.

[14] B.J. Canning, Y. Chou, Using guinea pigs in studies relevant to asthma and COPD, Pulmonary pharmacology & therapeutics, 21 (2008) 702-720.

[15] G.I.f.C.O.L. Disease, Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: 2016 update, 2016.

[16] S. Appleton, P. Poole, B. Smith, A. Veale, T.J. Lasserson, M.M. Chan, Long-acting beta2-agonists for poorly reversible chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, (2006) CD001104.

[17] P. Kallos, L. Kallos, Experimental asthma in guinea pigs revisited, International archives of allergy and applied immunology, 73 (1984) 77-85.

[18] Y.L. Lai, Role of the axon reflex in capsaicin-induced bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs, Respiration physiology, 83 (1991) 35-46.

[19] C. Bertrand, J.A. Nadel, I. Yamawaki, P. Geppetti, Role of kinins in the vascular extravasation evoked by antigen and mediated by tachykinins in guinea pig trachea, Journal of immunology, 151 (1993) 4902-4907.

[20] F.L. Ricciardolo, J.A. Nadel, P.D. Graf, C. Bertrand, S. Yoshihara, P. Geppetti, Role of kinins in anaphylactic-induced bronchoconstriction mediated by tachykinins in guinea-pigs, British journal of pharmacology, 113 (1994) 508-512.

[21] S. Kubo, T. Tomozawa, M. Kakuta, A. Tokumitsu, M. Yamashita, Laninamivir prodrug CS-8958, a long-acting neuraminidase inhibitor, shows superior anti-influenza virus activity after a single administration, Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 54 (2010) 1256-1264.

[22] A.C. Hurt, S. Lowther, D. Middleton, I.G. Barr, Assessing the development of oseltamivir and zanamivir resistance in A(H5N1) influenza viruses using a ferret model, Antiviral research, 87 (2010) 361-366.

[23] M.L. Herlocher, R. Truscon, R. Fenton, A. Klimov, S. Elias, S.E. Ohmit, A.S. Monto, Assessment of development of resistance to antivirals in the ferret model of influenza virus infection, The Journal of infectious diseases, 188 (2003) 1355-1361.

[24] M.P. Malakhov, L.M. Aschenbrenner, D.F. Smee, M.K. Wandersee, R.W. Sidwell, L.V. Gubareva, V.P. Mishin, F.G. Hayden, D.H. Kim, A. Ing, E.R. Campbell, M. Yu, F. Fang, Sialidase fusion protein as a novel broad-spectrum inhibitor of influenza virus infection, Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 50 (2006) 1470-1479.

[25] W. Smith, C.H. Andrewes, P.P. Laidlaw, A virus obtained from influenza patients, Lancet, 222 (1933) 66-68.

[26] P.S. Ng, R. Bohm, L.E. Hartley-Tassell, J.A. Steen, H. Wang, S.W. Lukowski, P.L. Hawthorne, A.E. Trezise, P.J. Coloe, S.M. Grimmond, T. Haselhorst, M. von Itzstein, A.W. Paton, J.C. Paton, M.P. Jennings, Ferrets exclusively synthesize Neu5Ac and express naturally humanized influenza A virus receptors, Nature communications, 5 (2014) 5750.

[27] D.Y. Oh, A.C. Hurt, Using the Ferret as an Animal Model for Investigating Influenza Antiviral Effectiveness, Frontiers in microbiology, 7 (2016) 80.

[28] R. Rudraraju, K. Subbarao, Passive immunization with influenza haemagglutinin specific monoclonal antibodies, Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics, 14 (2018) 2728-2736.
 [20] R.V. Turper, T. Brabb, C. Bekew, M.A. Vachinder, Administration of substances to laborator.

[29] P.V. Turner, T. Brabb, C. Pekow, M.A. Vasbinder, Administration of substances to laboratory animals: routes of administration and factors to consider, Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science : JAALAS, 50 (2011) 600-613.

[30] X. Peng, J. Alfoldi, K. Gori, A.J. Eisfeld, S.R. Tyler, J. Tisoncik-Go, D. Brawand, G.L. Law, N. Skunca, M. Hatta, D.J. Gasper, S.M. Kelly, J. Chang, M.J. Thomas, J. Johnson, A.M. Berlin, M. Lara, P. Russell, R. Swofford, J. Turner-Maier, S. Young, T. Hourlier, B. Aken, S. Searle, X. Sun, Y. Yi, M. Suresh, T.M. Tumpey, A. Siepel, S.M. Wisely, C. Dessimoz, Y. Kawaoka, B.W. Birren, K. Lindblad-Toh, F. Di Palma, J.F. Engelhardt, R.E. Palermo, M.G. Katze, The draft genome sequence of the ferret (Mustela putorius)

furo) facilitates study of human respiratory disease, Nature biotechnology, 32 (2014) 1250-1255. [31] J. Panozzo, D.Y. Oh, K. Margo, D.A. Morton, D. Piedrafita, J. Mosse, A.C. Hurt, Evaluation of a dry powder delivery system for laninamivir in a ferret model of influenza infection, Antiviral research, 120 (2015) 66-71.

[32] M.D. Macia, E. Rojo-Molinero, A. Oliver, Antimicrobial susceptibility testing in biofilm-growing bacteria, Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 20 (2014) 981-990.

[33] S.M. Moskowitz, J.M. Foster, J. Emerson, J.L. Burns, Clinically feasible biofilm susceptibility assay for isolates of Pseudomonas aeruginosa from patients with cystic fibrosis, Journal of clinical microbiology, 42 (2004) 1915-1922.

[34] J.J. Rouby, B. Bouhemad, A. Monsel, H. Brisson, C. Arbelot, Q. Lu, G. Nebulized Antibiotics Study, Aerosolized antibiotics for ventilator-associated pneumonia: lessons from experimental studies, Anesthesiology, 117 (2012) 1364-1380.

[35] Q. Lu, J. Yang, Z. Liu, C. Gutierrez, G. Aymard, J.J. Rouby, G. Nebulized Antibiotics Study, Nebulized ceftazidime and amikacin in ventilator-associated pneumonia caused by Pseudomonas aeruginosa, American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 184 (2011) 106-115.
[36] G.A. Duncan, J. Jung, J. Hanes, J.S. Suk, The Mucus Barrier to Inhaled Gene Therapy, Molecular

therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy, 24 (2016) 2043-2053.

[37] D.K. Meyerholz, Lessons learned from the cystic fibrosis pig, Theriogenology, 86 (2016) 427-432.[38] G. Enhorning, B. Robertson, Lung expansion in the premature rabbit fetus after tracheal deposition of surfactant, Pediatrics, 50 (1972) 58-66.

[39] A. Buvailo, Will Biologics Surpass Small Molecules In The Pharma Race?, in: BiopharmaTrend.com (Ed.)https://www.biopharmatrend.com/post/67-will-small-molecules-sustain-pharmaceutical-race-with-biologics/, 2018.

[40] T. Secher, L. Guilleminault, K. Reckamp, I. Amanam, L. Plantier, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, Therapeutic antibodies: A new era in the treatment of respiratory diseases?, Pharmacology & therapeutics, 189 (2018) 149-172.

[41] EMA, Preclinical Safety Evaluation of Biotechnology-Derived Pharmaceuticals, in: C.f.m.p.f.h.u. (CHMP) (Ed.), EMA, www.ema.europa.eu, 2011.

[42] A. Zuberi, C. Lutz, Mouse Models for Drug Discovery. Can New Tools and Technology Improve Translational Power?, ILAR journal, 57 (2016) 178-185.

[43] G. Oberdorster, Z. Sharp, V. Atudorei, A. Elder, R. Gelein, W. Kreyling, C. Cox, Translocation of inhaled ultrafine particles to the brain, Inhalation toxicology, 16 (2004) 437-445.

[44] R. Nave, Clinical pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profile of inhaled ciclesonide, Clinical pharmacokinetics, 48 (2009) 243-252.

[45] R.K. Wolff, M.A. Dorato, Toxicologic testing of inhaled pharmaceutical aerosols, Critical reviews in toxicology, 23 (1993) 343-369.

[46] R.F. Phalen, M.J. Oldham, R.K. Wolff, The relevance of animal models for aerosol studies, Journal of aerosol medicine and pulmonary drug delivery, 21 (2008) 113-124.

[47] K. Owen, Regulatory toxicology considerations for the development of inhaled pharmaceuticals, Drug and chemical toxicology, 36 (2013) 109-118.

[48] C. Ibanez, D. Suhard, C. Elie, T. Ebrahimian, P. Lestaevel, A. Roynette, B. Dhieux-Lestaevel, F. Gensdarmes, K. Tack, C. Tessier, Evaluation of the Nose-to-Brain Transport of Different

Physicochemical Forms of Uranium after Exposure via Inhalation of a UO4 Aerosol in the Rat, Environmental health perspectives, 127 (2019) 97010.

[49] U. Saffiotti, F. Cefis, L.H. Kolb, A method for the experimental induction of bronchogenic carcinoma, Cancer research, 28 (1968) 104-124.

[50] X.J. Chen, J.B. Zhu, G.J. Wang, M.X. Zhou, F.M. Xin, N. Zhang, C.X. Wang, Y.N. Xu, Hypoglycemic efficacy of pulmonary delivered insulin dry powder aerosol in rats, Acta pharmacologica Sinica, 23 (2002) 467-470.

[51] E. Mercier, F. Darrouzain, J. Montharu, A. Guillon, P. Diot, G. Paintaud, L. Vecellio, Lung and serum teicoplanin concentration after aerosol and intravenous administration in a rat model, Journal of aerosol medicine and pulmonary drug delivery, 27 (2014) 306-312.

[52] A. Guillon, T. Secher, L.A. Dailey, L. Vecellio, M. de Monte, M. Si-Tahar, P. Diot, C.P. Page, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, Insights on animal models to investigate inhalation therapy: Relevance for biotherapeutics, International journal of pharmaceutics, 536 (2018) 116-126.

[53] L. Guilleminault, N. Azzopardi, C. Arnoult, J. Sobilo, V. Herve, J. Montharu, A. Guillon, C. Andres,
O. Herault, A. Le Pape, P. Diot, E. Lemarie, G. Paintaud, V. Gouilleux-Gruart, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, Fate of inhaled monoclonal antibodies after the deposition of aerosolized particles in the respiratory system,
Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society, 196 (2014) 344-354.
[54] T. Yamamoto, Y. Kobayashi, S. Shikano, M. Takeyama, M. Asako, K. Tomoda, Flow Visualization for Nasal Cavity Flow in Aerosol Exhalation Through Nose Treatment, in: S. Springer (Ed.) 16th International Conference on Biomedical EngineeringSingapore, 2017.

[55] J.P. Schreider, O.G. Raabe, Anatomy of the nasal-pharyngeal airway of experimental animals, The Anatomical record, 200 (1981) 195-205.

[56] S.P. ChangLai, W.T. Hung, K.K. Liao, Detecting alveolar epithelial injury following volatile anesthetics by (99m)Tc DTPA radioaerosol inhalation lung scan, Respiration; international review of thoracic diseases, 66 (1999) 506-510.

[57] P. Wollmer, W. Schairer, J.A. Bos, W. Bakker, E.P. Krenning, B. Lachmann, Pulmonary clearance of 99mTc-DTPA during halothane anaesthesia, Acta anaesthesiologica Scandinavica, 34 (1990) 572-575.

[58] G. Patrick, C. Stirling, Measurement of mucociliary clearance from the trachea of conscious and anesthetized rats, Journal of applied physiology: respiratory, environmental and exercise physiology, 42 (1977) 451-455.

[59] A. Guillon, J. Montharu, L. Vecellio, V. Schubnel, G. Roseau, J. Guillemain, P. Diot, M. de Monte, Pulmonary delivery of dry powders to rats: tolerability limits of an intra-tracheal administration model, International journal of pharmaceutics, 434 (2012) 481-487.

[60] A. Guillon, E. Mercier, P. Lanotte, E. Haguenoer, F. Darrouzain, C. Barc, P. Sarradin, M. Si-Tahar, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, P. Diot, L. Vecellio, Aerosol Route to Administer Teicoplanin in Mechanical Ventilation: In Vitro Study, Lung Deposition and Pharmacokinetic Analyses in Pigs, Journal of aerosol medicine and pulmonary drug delivery, 28 (2015) 290-298.

[61] L. Yang, A. Feuchtinger, W. Moller, Y. Ding, D. Kutschke, G. Moller, J.C. Schittny, G. Burgstaller, W. Hofmann, T. Stoeger, R. Daniel, A. Walch, O. Schmid, Three-Dimensional Quantitative Co-Mapping of Pulmonary Morphology and Nanoparticle Distribution with Cellular Resolution in Nondissected Murine Lungs, ACS nano, 13 (2019) 1029-1041.

[62] A. Fioni, E. Selg, V. Cenacchi, F. Acevedo, G. Brogin, P. Gerde, P. Puccini, Investigation of Lung Pharmacokinetic of the Novel PDE4 Inhibitor CHF6001 in Preclinical Models: Evaluation of the PreciseInhale Technology, Journal of aerosol medicine and pulmonary drug delivery, 31 (2018) 61-70.
[63] I. Goldstein, F. Wallet, J. Robert, M.H. Becquemin, C.H. Marquette, J.J. Rouby, Lung tissue concentrations of nebulized amikacin during mechanical ventilation in piglets with healthy lungs, American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 165 (2002) 171-175. [64] I. Goldstein, F. Wallet, A. Nicolas-Robin, F. Ferrari, C.H. Marquette, J.J. Rouby, Lung deposition and efficiency of nebulized amikacin during Escherichia coli pneumonia in ventilated piglets, American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 166 (2002) 1375-1381.

[65] E. Bodier-Montagutelli, R. Respaud, G. Perret, L. Baptista, P. Duquenne, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, L. Vecellio, Protein stability during nebulization: mind the collection step!, European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik e.V, (2020).

[66] R. Respaud, L. Vecellio, P. Diot, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, Nebulization as a delivery method for mAbs in respiratory diseases, Expert opinion on drug delivery, 12 (2015) 1027-1039.

[67] R. Ponce, L. Abad, L. Amaravadi, T. Gelzleichter, E. Gore, J. Green, S. Gupta, D. Herzyk, C. Hurst, I.A. Ivens, T. Kawabata, C. Maier, B. Mounho, B. Rup, G. Shankar, H. Smith, P. Thomas, D. Wierda, Immunogenicity of biologically-derived therapeutics: assessment and interpretation of nonclinical safety studies, Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology : RTP, 54 (2009) 164-182.

[68] H. Schellekens, Bioequivalence and the immunogenicity of biopharmaceuticals, Nature reviews. Drug discovery, 1 (2002) 457-462.

[69] M.K. Joubert, Q. Luo, Y. Nashed-Samuel, J. Wypych, L.O. Narhi, Classification and characterization of therapeutic antibody aggregates, The Journal of biological chemistry, 286 (2011) 25118-25133.

[70] J.M. Borghardt, C. Kloft, A. Sharma, Inhaled Therapy in Respiratory Disease: The Complex Interplay of Pulmonary Kinetic Processes, Canadian respiratory journal, 2018 (2018) 2732017.
[71] J.V. Fahy, B.F. Dickey, Airway mucus function and dysfunction, The New England journal of medicine, 363 (2010) 2233-2247.

[72] S.S. Olmsted, J.L. Padgett, A.I. Yudin, K.J. Whaley, T.R. Moench, R.A. Cone, Diffusion of macromolecules and virus-like particles in human cervical mucus, Biophysical journal, 81 (2001) 1930-1937.

[73] B. Button, L.H. Cai, C. Ehre, M. Kesimer, D.B. Hill, J.K. Sheehan, R.C. Boucher, M. Rubinstein, A periciliary brush promotes the lung health by separating the mucus layer from airway epithelia, Science, 337 (2012) 937-941.

[74] A. Akella, S.B. Deshpande, Pulmonary surfactants and their role in pathophysiology of lung disorders, Indian journal of experimental biology, 51 (2013) 5-22.

[75] A. Van't Veen, D. Gommers, S.J. Verbrugge, P. Wollmer, J.W. Mouton, P.P. Kooij, B. Lachmann, Lung clearance of intratracheally instilled 99mTc-tobramycin using pulmonary surfactant as vehicle, British journal of pharmacology, 126 (1999) 1091-1096.

[76] T.S. Wiedmann, R. Bhatia, L.W. Wattenberg, Drug solubilization in lung surfactant, Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society, 65 (2000) 43-47.

[77] S.A. Cryan, N. Sivadas, L. Garcia-Contreras, In vivo animal models for drug delivery across the lung mucosal barrier, Advanced drug delivery reviews, 59 (2007) 1133-1151.

[78] T.H. March, F.H. Green, F.F. Hahn, K.J. Nikula, Animal models of emphysema and their relevance to studies of particle-induced disease, Inhalation toxicology, 12 Suppl 4 (2000) 155-187.

[79] J.D. Crapo, S.L. Young, E.K. Fram, K.E. Pinkerton, B.E. Barry, R.O. Crapo, Morphometric characteristics of cells in the alveolar region of mammalian lungs, The American review of respiratory disease, 128 (1983) S42-46.

[80] A.R. Dahl, Metabolic characteristics of the respiratory tract, Concepts In Inhalation Toxicology, Taylor & Francis, Washington, DC, 1995, pp. 141–160.

[81] J. Turton, J. Hooson, The respiratory system, in: T. Francis (Ed.) Target Organ Pathology: A Basic Text, Washington, DC, 1998, pp. 347–351.

[82] L.S. Schanker, E.W. Mitchell, R.A. Brown, Jr., Species comparison of drug absorption from the lung after aerosol inhalation or intratracheal injection, Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 14 (1986) 79-88.

[83] L.S. Schanker, J.A. Hemberger, Relation between molecular weight and pulmonary absorption rate of lipid-insoluble compounds in neonatal and adult rats, Biochemical pharmacology, 32 (1983) 2599-2601.

[84] R.J. Metzger, O.D. Klein, G.R. Martin, M.A. Krasnow, The branching programme of mouse lung development, Nature, 453 (2008) 745-750.

[85] H.M. Mehendale, L.S. Angevine, Y. Ohmiya, The isolated perfused lung--a critical evaluation, Toxicology, 21 (1981) 1-36.

[86] A. Tronde, C. Bosquillon, B. Forbes, The isolated perfused lung for drug absorption studies., in:
E.C.a.K. KJ (Ed.) Drug absorption studies: In situ, in vitro and in silico models.2008, pp. 135–163.
[87] M. Sakagami, P.R. Byron, F. Rypacek, Biochemical evidence for transcytotic absorption of polyaspartamide from the rat lung: effects of temperature and metabolic inhibitors, Journal of pharmaceutical sciences, 91 (2002) 1958-1968.

[88] A. Tronde, E. Krondahl, H. von Euler-Chelpin, P. Brunmark, U.H. Bengtsson, G. Ekstrom, H. Lennernas, High airway-to-blood transport of an opioid tetrapeptide in the isolated rat lung after aerosol delivery, Peptides, 23 (2002) 469-478.

[89] C.D. Edwards, C. Luscombe, P. Eddershaw, E.M. Hessel, Development of a Novel Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship Model to Accurately Predict Pulmonary Absorption and Replace Routine Use of the Isolated Perfused Respiring Rat Lung Model, Pharmaceutical research, 33 (2016) 2604-2616.

[90] D. Sciuscio, J. Hoeng, M.C. Peitsch, P. Vanscheeuwijck, Respirable aerosol exposures of nicotine dry powder formulations to in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo pre-clinical models demonstrate consistency of pharmacokinetic profiles, Inhalation toxicology, 31 (2019) 248-257.

[91] A.P. Joyce, M. Wang, R. Lawrence-Henderson, C. Filliettaz, S.S. Leung, X. Xu, D.M. O'Hara, One mouse, one pharmacokinetic profile: quantitative whole blood serial sampling for biotherapeutics, Pharmaceutical research, 31 (2014) 1823-1833.

[92] J. Mankikian, S. Ehrmann, L. Guilleminault, T. Le Fol, C. Barc, M. Ferrandiere, T. Boulain, P.F. Dequin, A. Guillon, An evaluation of a new single-use flexible bronchoscope with a large suction channel: reliability of bronchoalveolar lavage in ventilated piglets and initial clinical experience, Anaesthesia, 69 (2014) 701-706.

[93] E. Kipnis, Using urea as an endogenous marker of bronchoalveolar lavage dilution, Critical care medicine, 33 (2005) 2153; author reply 2153-2154.

[94] W.F. Elmquist, R.J. Sawchuk, Application of microdialysis in pharmacokinetic studies, Pharmaceutical research, 14 (1997) 267-288.

[95] M. Zeitlinger, M. Muller, C. Joukhadar, Lung microdialysis--a powerful tool for the determination of exogenous and endogenous compounds in the lower respiratory tract (mini-review), The AAPS journal, 7 (2005) E600-608.

[96] M. Brunner, O. Langer, Microdialysis versus other techniques for the clinical assessment of in vivo tissue drug distribution, The AAPS journal, 8 (2006) E263-271.

[97] J. Dhanani, J.A. Roberts, M. Chew, J. Lipman, R.J. Boots, D.L. Paterson, J.F. Fraser, Antimicrobial chemotherapy and lung microdialysis: a review, International journal of antimicrobial agents, 36 (2010) 491-500.

[98] A. de la Pena, P. Liu, H. Derendorf, Microdialysis in peripheral tissues, Advanced drug delivery reviews, 45 (2000) 189-216.

[99] A. Guillon, J. Pardessus, P. Lhommet, C. Parent, R. Respaud, D. Marchand, J. Montharu, M. De Monte, P. Janiak, C. Boixel, H. Audat, S. Huille, E. Guillot, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, Exploring the fate of inhaled monoclonal antibody in the lung parenchyma by microdialysis, mAbs, 11 (2019) 297-304. [100] S.B. Jadhav, V. Khaowroongrueng, M. Fueth, M.B. Otteneder, W. Richter, H. Derendorf, Tissue Distribution of a Therapeutic Monoclonal Antibody Determined by Large Pore Microdialysis, Journal of pharmaceutical sciences, 106 (2017) 2853-2859.

[101] E. Faustman, G. Omenn, Risk Assessment, in: C.D. Klaassen (Ed.) Casarett & Doull's Toxicology The Basic Science Of Poisons, New-York: McGraw-Hill, 2001.

[102] N.R. Council, Toxicity Testing: Strategies to Determine Needs and Priorities, The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 1984.

[103] M.A. Dorato, L. Buckley, Toxicology testing in drug discovery and development, in: Wiley (Ed.) Current Protocols in Toxicology, New-York, 2007.

[104] OCDE, Test No. 403: Acute Inhalation Toxicity, 2009.

[105] OCDE, Guidance Document on Histopathology for Inhalation Studies, (2009).

[106] OCDE, Test No. 412: Subacute Inhalation Toxicity: 28-Day Study, 2018.

[107] OCDE, Test No. 413: Subchronic Inhalation Toxicity: 90-day Study, 2018.

[108] FDA, Nonclinical Safety Evaluation of Reformulated Drug Products and Products Intended for Administration by an Alternate Route, (2015).

[109] B.A. Wong, Inhalation exposure systems: design, methods and operation, Toxicologic pathology, 35 (2007) 3-14.

[110] J.L. Wylie, A. House, P.J. Mauser, S. Sellers, J. Terebetski, Z. Wang, J.D. Ehrick, Inhaled formulation and device selection: bridging the gap between preclinical species and first-in-human studies, Therapeutic delivery, 9 (2018) 387-404.

[111] R.W. Bide, S.J. Armour, E. Yee, Allometric respiration/body mass data for animals to be used for estimates of inhalation toxicity to young adult humans, Journal of applied toxicology : JAT, 20 (2000) 273-290.

[112] D.J. Alexander, C.J. Collins, D.W. Coombs, I.S. Gilkison, C.J. Hardy, G. Healey, G. Karantabias, N. Johnson, A. Karlsson, J.D. Kilgour, P. McDonald, Association of Inhalation Toxicologists (AIT) working party recommendation for standard delivered dose calculation and expression in non-clinical aerosol inhalation toxicology studies with pharmaceuticals, Inhalation toxicology, 20 (2008) 1179-1189.
[113] J. Pauluhn, U. Mohr, Inhalation studies in laboratory animals--current concepts and alternatives, Toxicologic pathology, 28 (2000) 734-753.

[114] J.J. DeGeorge, C.H. Ahn, P.A. Andrews, M.E. Brower, Y.S. Choi, M.Y. Chun, T. Du, D.Y. Lee-Ham, W.D. McGuinn, L. Pei, L.F. Sancilio, W. Schmidt, H.V. Sheevers, C.J. Sun, S. Tripathi, W.M. Vogel, V. Whitehurst, S. Williams, A.S. Taylor, Considerations for toxicology studies of respiratory drug products, Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology : RTP, 25 (1997) 189-193.

[115] K. Owen, S.L. Beck, S.J. Damment, The preclinical toxicology of salmeterol hydroxynaphthoate, Human & experimental toxicology, 29 (2010) 393-407.

[116] R. Wolff, M.A. Dorato, Inhalation toxicology studies, in: Elsevier (Ed.) Comprehensive toxicology, Oxford, 2010, pp. 225-245.

[117] D.J. Lewis, Morphological assessment of pathological changes within the rat larynx, Toxicologic pathology, 19 (1991) 352-357.

[118] K.J. Nikula, J.E. McCartney, T. McGovern, G.K. Miller, M. Odin, M.V. Pino, M.D. Reed, STP position paper: interpreting the significance of increased alveolar macrophages in rodents following inhalation of pharmaceutical materials, Toxicologic pathology, 42 (2014) 472-486.

[119] FDA, Curosurf pharmacology and toxicology summary review, in: F.a.D.A.-C.f.D.E.a.R. (CDER) (Ed.), FDA, https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/2012/021746Orig1s000SumR.pdf, 2012.

[120] J.D. Green, Pharmaco-toxicological expert report Pulmozyme rhDNase Genentech, Inc, Human & experimental toxicology, 13 Suppl 1 (1994) S1-42.

[121] S. Greene, K. Nikula, D. Poulin, K. McInally, J. Reynolds, Assessment of Long Term Preclinical Safety of Technosphere Particles and Afrezza inhalation powder, Society of Toxicology Annual MeetingSan Antonio, 2013.

[122] M. Sakagami, In vivo, in vitro and ex vivo models to assess pulmonary absorption and disposition of inhaled therapeutics for systemic delivery, Advanced drug delivery reviews, 58 (2006) 1030-1060.

[123] C.A. Fernandes, R. Vanbever, Preclinical models for pulmonary drug delivery, Expert opinion on drug delivery, 6 (2009) 1231-1245.

[124] G.R. Zosky, P.D. Sly, Animal models of asthma, Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 37 (2007) 973-988.

[125] A.T. Nials, S. Uddin, Mouse models of allergic asthma: acute and chronic allergen challenge, Disease models & mechanisms, 1 (2008) 213-220.

[126] P.J. Henry, R.G. Goldie, Beta 1-adrenoceptors mediate smooth muscle relaxation in mouse isolated trachea, British journal of pharmacology, 99 (1990) 131-135.

[127] J.P. Riley, B. Fuchs, L. Sjoberg, G.P. Nilsson, L. Karlsson, S.E. Dahlen, N.L. Rao, M. Adner, Mast cell mediators cause early allergic bronchoconstriction in guinea-pigs in vivo: a model of relevance to asthma, Clinical science, 125 (2013) 533-542.

[128] T.D. Sugianto, H.K. Chan, Inhaled antibiotics in the treatment of non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis: clinical and drug delivery perspectives, Expert opinion on drug delivery, 13 (2016) 7-22.

[129] S. Sellers, W. Horodnik, A. House, J. Wylie, P. Mauser, N. Garber, Y.E. Pu, J. Berry, B. Donovan, The in vitro and in vivo investigation of inhaled migraine therapies using a novel aerosol delivery system consisting of an air pressurized capsule device (APCD) in combination with a pMDI spacer for endotracheal dosing into beagle dogs, Drug development and industrial pharmacy, 41 (2015) 1989-1996.

[130] EMA, Safety pharmacology studies for human pharmaceuticals, in: C.f.m.p.f.h.u. (CHMP) (Ed.), EMA, www.ema.europa.eu, 2001.

[131] J.P. Scheerlinck, K.J. Snibson, V.M. Bowles, P. Sutton, Biomedical applications of sheep models: from asthma to vaccines, Trends in biotechnology, 26 (2008) 259-266.

[132] R.C. Hubbard, M.A. Casolaro, M. Mitchell, S.E. Sellers, F. Arabia, M.A. Matthay, R.G. Crystal, Fate of aerosolized recombinant DNA-produced alpha 1-antitrypsin: use of the epithelial surface of the lower respiratory tract to administer proteins of therapeutic importance, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 86 (1989) 680-684.

[133] K. Whitaker, L. Trujillo, Neonatal mechanical ventilation, in: D.W. Chang (Ed.) Clinical application of mechanical ventilation, Delmar Cengage Learning2013.

[134] A. Larios Mora, L. Detalle, J.M. Gallup, A. Van Geelen, T. Stohr, L. Duprez, M.R. Ackermann, Delivery of ALX-0171 by inhalation greatly reduces respiratory syncytial virus disease in newborn lambs, mAbs, 10 (2018) 778-795.

[135] K.L. Helke, M.M. Swindle, Animal models of toxicology testing: the role of pigs, Expert opinion on drug metabolism & toxicology, 9 (2013) 127-139.

[136] Underwood S.L., R. D., Methods of Drug Administration to the Lung in Animals, in: Raeburn D.,G. M.A. (Eds.) Airways Smooth Muscle: Modelling the Asthmatic Response In Vivo. RespiratoryPharmacology and Pharmacotherapy., Birkhäuser Basel1996.

[137] B.G. Sood, Y. Shen, Z. Latif, X. Chen, J. Sharp, J. Neelavalli, A. Joshi, T.L. Slovis, E.M. Haacke, Aerosol delivery in ventilated newborn pigs: an MRI evaluation, Pediatric research, 64 (2008) 159-164.

[138] S.A. Wemyss-Holden, K.J. Porter, P. Baxter, G.E. Rudkin, G.J. Maddern, The laryngeal mask airway in experimental pig anaesthesia, Laboratory animals, 33 (1999) 30-34.

[139] H.B. van der Worp, D.W. Howells, E.S. Sena, M.J. Porritt, S. Rewell, V. O'Collins, M.R. Macleod, Can animal models of disease reliably inform human studies?, PLoS medicine, 7 (2010) e1000245. [140] J. Seok, H.S. Warren, A.G. Cuenca, M.N. Mindrinos, H.V. Baker, W. Xu, D.R. Richards, G.P.

McDonald-Smith, H. Gao, L. Hennessy, C.C. Finnerty, C.M. Lopez, S. Honari, E.E. Moore, J.P. Minei, J. Cuschieri, P.E. Bankey, J.L. Johnson, J. Sperry, A.B. Nathens, T.R. Billiar, M.A. West, M.G. Jeschke, M.B. Klein, R.L. Gamelli, N.S. Gibran, B.H. Brownstein, C. Miller-Graziano, S.E. Calvano, P.H. Mason, J.P. Cobb, L.G. Rahme, S.F. Lowry, R.V. Maier, L.L. Moldawer, D.N. Herndon, R.W. Davis, W. Xiao, R.G. Tompkins, Inflammation, L.S.C.R.P. Host Response to Injury, Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 110 (2013) 3507-3512.

[141] J.H. Arts, H. Muijser, D. Jonker, J.J. van de Sandt, P.M. Bos, V.J. Feron, Inhalation toxicity studies: OECD guidelines in relation to REACH and scientific developments, Experimental and toxicologic pathology : official journal of the Gesellschaft fur Toxikologische Pathologie, 60 (2008) 125-133.

[142] C. Lambré, M. Aufderheide, R. Bolton, B. Fubini, H. Haagsman, P. Hext, M. Jorissen, Y. Landry, J. Morin, B. Nemery, P. Nettesheim, J. Pauluhn, R. Richards, A. Vickers, R. Wu, In vitro tests for respiratory toxicity: The report and recommendations of ECVAM workshop 18, ATLA Alternatives to Laboratory Animals, 24 (1996) 671-681.

[143] P.S. Hiemstra, T.D. Tetley, S.M. Janes, Airway and alveolar epithelial cells in culture, The European respiratory journal, 54 (2019).

[144] S. Aoki, T. Takezawa, H. Sugihara, S. Toda, Progress in cell culture systems for pathological research, Pathology international, 66 (2016) 554-562.

[145] K. Zscheppang, J. Berg, S. Hedtrich, L. Verheyen, D.E. Wagner, N. Suttorp, S. Hippenstiel, A.C.
Hocke, Human Pulmonary 3D Models For Translational Research, Biotechnology journal, 13 (2018).
[146] A. Artzy-Schnirman, N. Hobi, N. Schneider-Daum, O.T. Guenat, C.M. Lehr, J. Sznitman,
Advanced in vitro lung-on-chip platforms for inhalation assays: From prospect to pipeline, European
journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur
Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik e.V, 144 (2019) 11-17.

[147] A.G. Lenz, T. Stoeger, D. Cei, M. Schmidmeir, N. Semren, G. Burgstaller, B. Lentner, O. Eickelberg, S. Meiners, O. Schmid, Efficient bioactive delivery of aerosolized drugs to human pulmonary epithelial cells cultured in air-liquid interface conditions, American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology, 51 (2014) 526-535.

[148] P.R. Byron, J.S. Patton, Drug delivery via the respiratory tract, Journal of aerosol medicine : the official journal of the International Society for Aerosols in Medicine, 7 (1994) 49-75.

[149] G. Lacroix, W. Koch, D. Ritter, A.C. Gutleb, S.T. Larsen, T. Loret, F. Zanetti, S. Constant, S. Chortarea, B. Rothen-Rutishauser, P.S. Hiemstra, E. Frejafon, P. Hubert, L. Gribaldo, P. Kearns, J. Aublant, S. Diabaté, C. Weiss, A. de Groot, I. Kooter, Air–Liquid Interface In Vitro Models for Respiratory Toxicology Research: Consensus Workshop and Recommendations, Applied In Vitro Toxicology, 4 (2018).

[150] G.E.P. Box, Robustness in the Strategy of Scientific Model Building, in: ScienceDirect (Ed.) Robustness in Statistics, Academic Press1979, pp. 201-236.

[151] J.M. Borghardt, B. Weber, A. Staab, C. Kloft, Pharmacometric Models for Characterizing the Pharmacokinetics of Orally Inhaled Drugs, The AAPS journal, 17 (2015) 853-870.